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 This letter is to notify you of ongoing violations of the Clean Water Act (CWA) 
and the Surface Mining Control and Reclamation Act (SCMRA) at the Rosebud Strip 
Mine in Colstrip, Montana. The Rosebud Mine is owned and operated by Western 
Energy Company, Westmoreland Mining, LCC, and Westmoreland Coal Company 
(Westmoreland).  
 

The Montana Environmental Information Center, Wild Earth Guardians, and the 
Sierra Club (collectively, Conservation Groups), represented by the Western 
Environmental Law Center (WELC), are concerned about the continuing violations of 
SMCRA and the CWA at the Rosebud strip mine, which are causing and contributing to 
serious environmental harm in the East Fork Armells Creek. Westmoreland’s mining 
activities have caused serious harm to the hydrological health of the area, including the 
dewatering of the East Fork Armells Creek in violation of SMCRA and excessive 
discharges of iron in the East Fork Armells in violation of Westmoreland’s Section 402 
NPDES permit under the CWA.  
 
 Pursuant to 30 U.S.C. § 1270(b) and 33 USC §1365(b), WELC hereby gives 
notice of intent to sue Westmoreland in federal district court for its ongoing violations of 
SMCRA and the CWA upon the expiration of the sixty-day statutory waiting period, 
unless Westmoreland brings itself into full compliance. 

 
 At issue is the fact that Westmoreland has violated and continues to violate 
hydrologic performance standards at the Rosebud Coal Mine. Specifically, 
Westmoreland’s coal mining operations have de-watered a segment of East Fork Armells 
Creek, in violation of SMCRA performance standards and SMCRA regulations. Because 
Westmoreland has caused material damage to a creek outside of the permit area, 
Westmoreland has violated and continues to violate SMCRA, SMCRA performance 
standards, and Montana regulations. OSMRE must take measures as required by statute 
to inspect these violations and take appropriate action.  
 

Westmoreland has also violated and continues to violate applicable effluent limits 
under the Clean Water Act. Specifically, Westmoreland is violating its Section 402 
National Pollution Discharge Elimination System permit limits by discharging excessive 
amounts of iron, settleable solids, and total suspended solids into the East Fork Armells 
Creek. A NPDES permittee must comply with applicable effluent limits, so 
Westmoreland is violating the CWA when it continues to discharge excessive amounts of 
iron into East Fork Armells Creek. 
 
 
I. Factual Background 
 
 All violations mentioned herein have occurred, are occurring, and will continue to 
occur at the Rosebud strip mine located in Colstrip, Montana. The Rosebud strip mine is 
a 25,600 acre coal strip mine that crosses several water sources including the East Fork 
Armells Creek, which flows north to the Yellowstone River. Most of the mining 
operations have occurred in the East Fork Armells Creek basin, which have impacted the 



ground and surface water in the basin, critically de-watering the creek in Section 15 of 
the mine. Historically, Montana’s Department of Environmental Quality and the 
Westmoreland Coal Company have described East Fork Armells Creek as an intermittent 
or perennial stream, with groundwater contributing to the flow of the creek. Since mining 
has commenced at the Rosebud Mine, the creek’s fork has been completely de-watered 
by mining activities.  
 
II. Violations of Federal Law 
 
 The Conservation Groups allege that Westmoreland has violated, is violating, and 
continues to violate SMCRA and the CWA because Westmoreland’s mining activities 
have dewatered East Fork Armells Creek in violation of SMCRA’s performance 
standards. Westmoreland’s activities have also caused or contributed to long-term 
violations of water quality standards in East Fork Armells Creek. 
 
a. SMCRA Violations 
 

SMCRA expressly mandates that OSM regulate the effects of surface coal mining 
operations on ground and surface water. 30 U.S.C. §1257(b)(11) (requiring that the 
determination of probable hydrological consequences in each permit application address 
“the quantity and quality of water in surface and ground water systems); §1258(a)(13) 
(requiring that the reclamation plan included in each permit application describe in detail 
the measures to be taken during mining and reclamation to assure the protection of the 
quality and quantity of surface and ground water systems, both on and off-site); 
§1265(b)(10). 
 

SMCRA and its implementing regulations protect a mining operation area’s 
hydrologic balance, both at the mine site and surrounding the mine area. 30 U.S.C. 
§1265(b)(10), §1266(b)(9). The hydrologic balance “encompasses the dynamic 
relationships among precipitation, runoff, evaporation, and changes in ground and surface 
water storage.” Ohio River Valley Envtl. Coal., Inc. v. Salazar, 466 F. App'x 161, 163-64 
(4th Cir. 2012). Specifically, SMCRA and the Montana Strip and Underground Mine 
Reclamation Act are required to “protect society and the environment from the adverse 
effects of surface coal mining” by assuring, among other things, that material damage to 
water resources “will not result.” 30 U.S.C. §1202(a), ARM 17.24.631(1).  
  
 “Material damage” means, with respect to protection of hydrologic resources, 
degradation or reduction by coal mining and reclamation operations of the quality or 
quantity of water outside of the permit area in a manner that beneficial uses of water are 
adversely affected or water quality standards are violated. Violation of a water quality 
standard, whether or not an existing water use is affected, is material damage. Under 
Montana law, “material damage” is defined to include “[v]iolation of a water quality 
standard.” § 82-4-203(31), MCA. Under the Clean Water Act water quality standards 
consist of “designated use or uses for waters” and “water quality criteria for such waters 
based upon such uses.” 40 C.F.R. § 131.3(i) (defining “water quality standards” under the 
Clean Water Act). In many cases, the water quality standard is measured by whether it 



can provide a beneficial use for aquatic life. The removal of water from a creek 
necessarily prevents any use of the water, including the support of aquatic life, and 
therefore also violates water quality standards. PUD No. 1 of Jefferson Cty. v. 
Washington Dep’t of Ecology, 511 U.S. 700, 70 (1994). Further, specific to Montana, a 
reduction in the flow of the creek beyond 10 percent violates Montana water quality 
standards. See Save Our Cabinets v. U.S. Dep’t of Agric., No. CV-16-53-M-DWM, F. 
Supp. 3d (D. Mont. May 5, 2017); 33 U.S.C. § 1323(a); ARM 17.30.715(1). 
  

Dewatering an intermittent to perennial stream violates water quality standards 
and constitutes material damage under SMCRA. “No effect on related environmental 
values is more adverse than obliteration […] [b]ecause there is no stream, there is no 
water quality.” Bragg v. Robertson, 72 F. Supp. 2d 642, 662 (S.D. W.Va. 1999), reversed 
on other ground sub nom, Bragg v. W.Va. Coal Ass’n., 248 F.3d 275 (4th Cir. 2001).  
 
 Coal mining operations must be conducted so as not to cause material damage to 
waters outside the permit area. ARM 17.24.631(1). Material damage includes any 
violation of a water quality standard. Mont. Code Ann. § 82-4-203(31). Inevitably, coal 
mining operations cause serious damage to waterways. The evidence of the de-watering 
of East Fork Armells Creek is clear. Both the Department and Westmoreland have 
acknowledged that a section of the East Fork Armells Creek in Section 15 was 
intermittent or perennial, and both the DEQ and Westmoreland now report that this same 
portion of the creek is ephemeral. E.g., Montana Dep’t of Envtl. Quality, Western Energy 
Company Rosebud Mine, Cumulative Hydrologic Impact Assessment, Amendment AM4 
at 9-9 (December 4, 2015) (“In field visits in 2014, DEQ staff observed this area as a dry 
grassy channel bottom with some riparian trees.”). 
 
 Evidence also strongly indicates that mining operations have reduced the flow of 
East Fork Armells Creek. In its Probable Hydrological Discharges Report, Westmoreland 
noted that its 2014 field survey of the East Fork Armells Segment, “showed no flow,” 
and that it was possible that the change in flow [i.e., no flow], is a result of mine related 
dewatering.” Comprehensive Evaluation of Probable Hydrologic Consequences: Areas A, 
B, and C Western Energy Rosebud Mine, Prepared for Western Energy Company by 
Nicklin Earth & Water at 28, 29 (January 2014). The same report noted that “given the 
decreased water levels in alluvial wells between Areas B and C, it is possible that the 
change in flow is a result of mine related dewatering.” Montana DEQ observed that the 
alluvial wells adjacent to this reach recorded “steep declines” when Westmoreland mined 
the Rosebud coal seam and the aquifer in the 1990s. See Montana Dep’t of Envtl. 
Quality, Western Energy Company Rosebud Mine, Cumulative Hydrologic Impact 
Assessment, Amendment AM4 at 9-10 (December 4, 2015). Since strip-mining has 
commenced along this region, the alluvium in this section has been completely dried. Id. 
 

Based on Westmoreland’s and DEQ’s assessments of the East Fork Armells 
Creek, there is no question that Westmoreland dewatered an intermitted to perennial 
section of the creek by reducing the aquifer that provided the water to the stream. By 
dewatering this creek, Westmoreland caused material damage outside of the permit area, 



in violation of SMCRA, 30 U.S.C. §1260(b)(3), and Montana regulation ARM 
17.24.631(1). 

 
Westmoreland has also violated performance standards by causing and 

contributing to ongoing violations of water quality standards in East Fork Armells Creek. 
Since 2006, DEQ has determined that the creek is violating water quality standards for 
salinity, sulfate, chlorides, total dissolved solids, aluminum, and iron. Westmoreland’s 
Rosebud strip-mine operations have caused discharges of all these pollutants to the creek 
and have also caused pollution concentrations to increase by reducing the lateral inflow 
of fresh water from the Rosebud coal seam. By causing or contributing to violations of 
water quality standards in East Fork Armells Creek, Westmoreland has violated and is 
continuing to violate the prohibition on material damage. 
 
b. CWA Violations 
 

The Rosebud mine is discharging pollution into East Fork Armells Creek in 
excess of applicable effluent limits. Westmoreland, as the owners and operators of the 
Rosebud Mine, are “persons” subject to the requirements of the CWA. Section 301 of the 
CWA prohibits the discharge of any pollutant from a point source by any person except 
in compliance with a Section 402 NPDES permit. Violation of a pollutant limitation in a 
NPDES discharge permit constitutes violation of the CWA. Alaska Cmty. Action on 
Toxics v. Aurora Energy Servs., LLC, 765 F.3d 1169, 1171 (9th Cir. 2014).  
 
 Section 402 of the Clean Water Act prohibits the discharge of effluent into a 
navigable body of water unless the point source obtains a National Pollution Discharge 
Elimination System (“NPDES”) permit. A NPDES permit must comply with water 
quality standards for that state. Id. A permittee violates the Clean Water Act and water 
quality standards for the state when it discharges pollutants in excess of the levels 
specified in the permit. Alaska Cmty. Action on Toxics v. Aurora Energy Servs., LLC, 765 
F.3d 1169, 1171 (9th Cir. 2014). 
 

Westmoreland’s mining activities have discharged, and continue to discharge, 
pollutants into waters of the United States in excess of applicable Section 402 permit 
limitations. EPA’s Effluent Exceedance Report for the mine shows five excessive 
pollutant discharges within the last five years.  

 
 Solids, settleable, discharged at 19,500% over the daily limit, 9/30/17. 
 Iron, discharged at 7,014% over the monthly limit for 30 days, September 2017. 
 Iron, discharged at 3,457% over the daily limit, 9/30/17. 
 Solids, total suspended, discharged at 100% over the daily limit, 4/30/2015. 
 Solids, total suspended, discharged at 16% over the daily limit, 6/30/2014. 

 
EPA Enforcement and Compliance History Online (ECHO), Effluent Exceedances 
Report, https://echo.epa.gov/trends/loading-tool/reports/effluent-
exceedances/?permit_id=MT0023965. Four informal enforcement actions have occurred 
against Westmoreland in the last five years, including Letters of Violation sent to the 



operators of the Rosebud Mine on November 15, 2017, June 15, 2015, August 16, 2014, 
and July 23, 2013. EPA Enforcement and Compliance History Online (ECHO), 
Enforcement and Compliance Tab, https://echo.epa.gov/detailed-facility-
report?fid=110040987536.  
 
 Because Westmoreland has discharged excessive amounts of iron, settleable 
solids, and total suspended solids into East Fork Armells Creek, the Rosebud Mine is in 
continuing violation of its NPDES permit and has violated, and continues to violate, 
water quality standards under the Clean Water Act.  
 
III. Actions to Be Taken 
 

One of SMCRA’s most basic protections is that of the hydrologic resources 
surrounding mining operations. SMCRA states clearly that “material damage’ to 
hydrologic resources outside each permit area must be prevented. 30 USC § 1260(b)(3). 

 
 Here, there is no question that Westmoreland’s mining operations have dewatered 
the historically intermittent to perennial East Fork Armells Creek. Removing the water 
from a creek necessarily prevents any use of the creek, violating water quality standards. 
PUD No. 1 of Jefferson Cty. v. Washington Dep’t of Ecology, 511 U.S. 700, 70 
(1994). Mining operations which cause material damage to the waterway, such as the 
material damage caused by Westmoreland, violate SMCRA and MSUMRA. Based on the 
aforementioned information, there is reason to believe that Westmoreland is in violation 
of SMCRA, SMCRA implementing regulations, and State of Montana coal mining laws 
and regulations.  
 

Westmoreland is also exceeding its NPDES permit limits, violating water quality 
standards under the CWA. A violation of water quality standards, such as the dewatering 
of a creek or the violation of a NPDES permit, constitutes material damage under state 
implementing regulations. See § 82-4-203(31), MCA.  
 
 Absent cessation of unlawful discharges under the Clean Water Act, WELC 
intends, at the close of the sixty (60) day notice period, to file a citizen suit under § 505 
of the Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C. §1365, and § 520 of SMCRA, 30 U.S.C. § 1270, 
against Westmoreland, seeking injunctive relief, remedial relief, declaratory relief, and 
civil penalties for each permit violation over the past five (5) years and sixty (60) days 
from the date of this notice.  
 
IV. Persons Giving Notice  
 
The name, address, and phone number of the person giving notice of intent to file a 
citizen lawsuit under SMCRA and the CWA is: 
 
Derf Johnson, Clean Water Program Director & Staff Attorney 
Anne Hedges, Deputy Director 
Montana Environmental Information Center 



P.O. Box 1184 
Helena, MT 59624 
(406) 443-2520 
djohnson@meic.org 
 
Shannon Hughes, Climate Guardian 
Wild Earth Guardians 
2590 Walnut St. 
Denver, CO 80205 
(630) 699-7165 
shughes@wildearthguardians.org 
 
Nathaniel Shoaff, Senior Attorney 
Sierra Club 
2101 Webster Street, Suite 1300 
Oakland, CA 94612 
(415) 977-5610 
nathaniel.shoaff@sierraclub.org 
 

The Montana Environmental Information Center (MEIC) is a 501(c)(3) nonprofit 
organization founded in 1973 with approximately 5,000 members throughout the United 
States and the State of Montana. MEIC is dedicated, in part, to the preservation and 
enhancement of natural resources and natural environment of Montana and to the 
gathering and disseminating of information concerning the protection and preservation of 
the human environment through education of its members and the general public 
concerning their rights and obligations under local, state, and federal environmental 
protection laws and regulations. MEIC is also dedicated, in part, to assuring that federal 
officials comply with and fully uphold the laws of the United States that are designed to 
protect and enhance the environment from pollution. MEIC and its members have 
intensive, long-standing recreation, aesthetic, scientific, professional, and spiritual 
interests in the responsible production and use of energy, the reduction of greenhouse 
(GHG) pollution as a means to ameliorate our climate crisis, and the land, air, water, and 
community impacted by climate change. MEIC submits these comments on its own 
behalf and on behalf of its adversely affected members. 

 
Wild Earth Guardians is a west-wide nonprofit environmental organization 

dedicated to protecting and restoring the wildlife, wild places, and wild rivers of the 
American West. Through its Climate and Energy Program, WildEarth Guardians 
advocates for cleaner energy and works to ensure the impacts of fossil fuel development 
are minimized to protect the Earth’s climate and natural resources. Guardians, its 
members, and staff members use the lands in and near Rosebud Mine for recreational, 
scientific, and aesthetic purposes, including wildlife observation. Guardians and its 
members have an interest in preserving their ability to enjoy such activities in the future. 
Guardians submits these comments on behalf of itself and its members who have an 
interest in reducing greenhouse gas emissions and maintaining these Montana lands.  
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